Classification of 3D Shape Imagery Using a Brain-Computer Interface

A Thesis

Presented to

The Interdivisional Committee for

Computer Science and Psychology

Reed College

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Bachelor of Arts

Ian L. Jackson

December 2020

Approved for the Committee

(Computer Science and Psychology)

Eitan Frachtenberg and Michael Pitts

## Acknowledgments

The path that has led to writing this thesis has been one of intense growth, both academically and personally. I am thankful to have had people by my side who have been a part of and helped to facilitate this development.

To begin, my gratitude goes to my mother. Thank you, mom, for your endless support at all hours, and for having me write your thesis citations as a teen. It really prepared me for writing my own.

To my sisters, who have provided nothing but support all my life, and are my constant reminders that I am truly loved. Thank you.

I would like to thank my friend Jessie Willson, who has been a constant example of pursuing one's passions. Every day I have known you has been an inspiration to reach higher, learn more, and try something new. Thank you.

I am incredibly grateful for my aunts, Tía Henry and Olivia, for being my family and guides at Reed during my first couple of years. I have never met anyone as sweet and badass as you two, and I miss you both dearly.

To my brothers, Arthur, Hunter, Jeremiah, Renard, Eric. Your constant love and unwavering friendship have kept me afloat these years. Thank you.

For their comforting virtual presence and laughs throughout our online interactions during the quarantine, I would like to thank a few online groups, namely Otaku Chat, No Weebs AllUwUd, and Hololive.

To my academic advisor, Kris Anderson. Four years ago, I approached you after your lecture, and asked you to be my advisor although I was nearly failing the class. Thank you for continuing to push and believe in me.

I want to thank my thesis advisors, Michael Pitts and Eitan Frachtenberg, who agreed to be a part of a project that was outside of their usual research areas. Your trust in me has built my independence as a researcher over the past year.

To Maria Panopoulos. You have been such an amazing and close friend, a patient and understanding listener, and the most fun partner in crime I could ever ask for. From classroom antics to post-Qual fast food runs, you have brightened my time here, and surprised me repeatedly with the depth of your innate wisdom. I only wish we could have classes together for four more years.

And to my dad, who taught me to love science, to value inquiry, and to appreciate the sublimity of the natural world. Thank you.

## **Table of Contents**

Brain-Computer Interfaces	. 15
A Brief Overview of Neurotechnology	. 15
What's In A BCI?	. 19
Preprocessing: Filtering & Artifact Rejection	. 21
Feature Extraction: Types of Features & Data Transformations	. 22
Feature Translation & Machine Learning	. 23
Output & Feedback	. 24
Applications of BCIs	. 25
Usability	. 27
Current Limitations	. 29
Limitations of Signal Processing & Classification	. 29
Limitations of EEG Signal Acquisition & Interface Design	. 30
Mental Imagery	. 33
A History of Debate	. 33
Mental Imagery and the Brain	. 37
BCIs for Mental Imagery Classification	. 41
Motor Imagery	41
Other Forms of Imagery	43
Shape Imagery	. 44
A Novel BCI System for 3D Shape Imagery Classification	. 47
Methods	48
Experimental Design	48
EEG System & Signal Acquisition	. 49
Preprocessing & Feature Extraction	50
Classification	. 51
Results	. 52
Experiment 1	. 52
Analysis of Spatial Activity	. 52

Classification Results	54
Experiment 2	
Classification Results	
Discussion	61
Classification	61
Spatial Activity	
Mental Imagery	63
Conclusion	63
Future Directions	64
Appendix A: Individual Topographies	67
Bibliography	71

## List of Tables

Table 1: Confusion matrix of classification results, averaged across participants.	
5	55
Table 2: One-vs-all classification results for all shapes, averaged across	
participants5	56
Table 3: Confusion matrix of classification results in Experiment 2	57
Table 4: One-vs-all classification results for all shapes in Experiment 2	57
Table 5 Confusion matrix of classification results of first 50 trials in Experiment	2
Ę	58
Table 6: One-vs-all classification results for all shapes in the first 50 trials of	
Experiment 25	58

# **List of Figures**

Figure 1: A summary of some neuroimaging methods (from Nicolas-Alonso &
Gomez-Gil, 2012)
Figure 2: The basic components of a BCI system
Figure 3: Another outline of a BCI pipeline, with various examples of BCI applications on the right side
Figure 4: Usability factors in BCI 28
Figure 5. Descartes' depiction of human visual perception
Figure 6: fMRI data across 40 different studies showing brain regions most frequently activated during mental imagery
Figure 8: EEG Cap Electrode Layout and Channel Numbers
Figure 9: Raw EEG signals and how they were cut for preprocessing and analysis
Figure 10: Examples of artifacts related to eye blinks (left) and bad channels (right)
Figure 11: Experiment 1 scalp topographies per shape (row) and frequency band (column), averaged across all six participants
Figure 12: Scalp topographies per shape (row) and frequency band (column) for Experiment 2

### Abstract

This thesis unfolds in two main parts: the first is an exploration of braincomputer interfaces and mental imagery, the second is a follow-up study from a 2012 paper by Ehsan Esfahani and V. Sundararajan. In the first section, I review history, definitions, and applications in the deeply interdisciplinary realm of brain-computer interfaces. Afterward, the brief chapter on mental imagery discusses some history, as well as the neuroscience behind mental imagery. Connecting the two is the present study, which is a brain-computer interface for classifying shape mental imagery, a subject on which there is little existing research. The goal of the study is to replicate the classification accuracy results of Esfahani & Sundararajan, particularly Experiment 1.2, in which researchers were able to classify the five shapes with a **44.6%** average accuracy across all participants (n = 10). We performed an extension to this study that employs similar preprocessing, feature extraction, and classification methods, but using a standard wet EEG system with 64 electrodes, as compared to the dry 14electrode wireless system used in the original study. We hypothesized that the addition of both more electrodes as well as the use of the conductive gel that gives "wet" EEG systems their names will significantly increase classification accuracy of the five shapes. Results showed that, in fact, overall classification accuracy was comparable (43.3%) to the 14-electrode system, even in a second experiment that increased the number of trials. These findings support the growing evidence that portable, dry EEG systems are equally as reliable as traditional systems for brain-computer interface use. All code is available in a Github repository: https://www.github.com/orbitalhybridization/bci-shape.

### **Brain-Computer Interfaces**

The ability to interface directly with the enigmatic electro-chemical wiring of the human body is an idea that has long existed in the collective imagination of scientific endeavor and fiction alike. With the introduction of computers into the realm of scientific research decades ago, this technology supplemented brain recording tools to create brain-computer interfaces (BCIs), making possible a new modality of interaction between humans, machines, and their shared environment. Since their introduction, BCIs have increasingly garnered attention for their use as prostheses and communication devices in primarily laboratory settings, with even more excitement toward their futuristic implications. However, in order to understand how these systems work, we must first begin with a little history.

### A Brief Overview of Neurotechnology

We will define neurotechnology as technology that interacts with any of the biological circuitry of the central or peripheral nervous systems. This definition sets a wide scope, but we will focus our history on those technologies most pivotal to the development of BCIs (summarized in Figure 1), which are defined in the subsequent section.

Perhaps the most prominent and widely used of these is electroencephalography (EEG), meaning scalp-measured electricity (electro= "electricity," head/scalp= "cephalus," measure= "graph"). The first to discover that there was live, measurable brain activity in the form of tiny voltages from the scalp was Hans Berger in a series of experiments that occurred between 1924 and 1929, and it marked a cornerstone discovery in both neuroscience and electrical engineering alike (Wolpaw & Wolpaw 2012). In its purest form, an EEG system requires two electrodes, one for recording and one to act as a baseline for reference, and ideally some method to output the information, which in Berger's time was a simple pen writer on paper. Though taken at first with some skepticism, EEG's introduction led to a spike in related research in laboratories around the world. Of this research, one of the most notable findings was the discovery that EEG could measure a difference in brain activity between epileptic and healthy patients (Walter, 1940). This allowed clinicians to more easily diagnose epilepsy in patients, though the approach lacked some reliability in its early stages, which led some to over-interpret abnormal EEG readings (Kennett, 2012). However, with the passing decades, gradual improvements to EEG systems ever-improved their diagnostic capabilities, which are still widely used for epilepsy cases today.

Invented nearly a century ago, EEG was an early modality that bridged two previously unrelated fields: neuroscience and electrical engineering. This marriage of fields turned the problem of understanding the brain into one of engineering. Rather than relying on lesion studies (cutting out parts of the brain for medical purposes and observing changes in subjective experience and/or behavior) and other anatomy-related techniques that were popular in 19th century neurology, solving the inner workings of the brain suddenly became a matter of recording tools and computation. A closing note from Grey Walter's 1940 paper on EEG and epilepsy diagnosis stated that "the method is still too complicated to be used by anyone but an electrical expert." (Walter, 1940). Thus, with the establishment of EEG, the problems of neuroscience gained solutions that lay in electrical engineering, and Hans Berger's revolutionary technology leapt both fields forward. With the digitization of signals via the laboratoryaccessible computers in the 70s, which allowed for further processing of the data to more easily observe features in a signal, EEG became even more useful.

Related to EEG is magnetoencephalography (MEG), which came along soon after following the discovery of the ability to detect magnetic fields generated from within the body by physicist David Cohen in the 1960s (Stefan & Trinka, 2017). MEG measures the magnetic fields associated with neuronal activity; the sum of excitatory and inhibitory potentials flowing through a given neuron. Related by their electromagnetic approaches to brain interfacing, both EEG and MEG have high temporal resolution. In other words, they are both able to measure activity at the millisecond-level, a time-scale that matches common neural firing rates. At the same time, however, they have poor spatial resolution, meaning they are less equipped to elucidate the exact location of a given signal from the brain. This limitation is due in part to the location of the EEG/MEG sensors on the scalp, and in part to the ability of electrical potentials to spread across wide swaths of neural tissue. EEG and MEG signals related to specific sensory or motor processing also can suffer from a low signal-to-noise ratio due to the distance between the source signal and the sensors, the obstructing material of the meninges, skull, skin, and the spatio-temporal overlap of background neural activity.

The next neurotechnology for review, electrocorticography (ECoG), bypasses many of these limitations due to its invasiveness; it is a modality that interfaces directly with brain tissue. One of the main benefits of non-invasive technologies is that it is unethical to recruit participants for open-brain surgery for purely experimental purposes (due to the high level of medical risk involved in penetrating the skull). For this reason, invasive technologies are typically used either when an individual is already undergoing brain surgery, or in animal subjects. ECoG's history stretches back to 1929, when a pioneering electrophysiologist, Edgar Adrian, used glass electrodes paired with platinum wiring to record from nerve activity (peripheral nervous system), which was later extended to recordings from the central nervous system (Patil & Thakor, 2016). From this point, developments in materials science improved the quality of invasive recordings, allowing for a plethora of ECoG-based discoveries to be made. A most notable of these subsequent findings comes from the Nobel Prizewinning studies of Hubel and Wiesel, who used electrodes to map with unprecedented spatial precision the sensory cortex processing of visual stimuli in cats and monkeys (Hubel & Wiesel, 1962).

Upon the introduction of electrode arrays in the late 1960s and the fabrication techniques that gave rise to integrated circuitry about a decade later, ECoG technology enjoyed a massive upgrade. This improvement came in three main forms: 1) smaller electrodes, allowing for higher density recording over a given area, 2) more flexible electrodes 3) multiplexing, which granted the ability for the number of output lines to be fewer than the number of electrodes (Patil & Thakor, 2016). Nowadays, even further developments of fabrication technology

have allowed for a wider array of biocompatible materials to be used for ECoG on the scale of nanometers, compared to the micrometer-level of their beginnings.

There are, on the other hand, other brain interfacing techniques that utilize the metabolic and molecular properties of the brain rather than endogenous electromagnetic processes for measuring activity. One of these is functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), widely used since the 1990s, which extends a structural imaging technique (MRI) that utilizes an exogenously-produced magnetic field to change the spin axes of hydrogen atoms in the area of effect (typically the entire brain). This way, one can image the brain at different time periods, contrasting the blood oxygenation-level dependent (BOLD) signals. Because more active nervous tissues require more oxygen carried by the blood for metabolic processes, these BOLD signals give information about what areas of the brain are more active at a given time. This technique has the improved spatial precision that EEG and MEG lack, but is limited in temporal precision, which comes from the fact that the movement of blood is slow (on the order of seconds) compared to the actual firing activity of neurons (on the order of milliseconds). Regardless, fMRI has been invaluable to the mapping of brain regions and related activity using 2- and 3-dimensional imaging.

Our final two neurotechnologies for review, positron emission tomography (PET) and functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) are less common than EEG/MEG but are more accessible for BCI applications than fMRI and ECoG. PET is an imaging technique that utilizes the radioactive properties of unstable isotopes, known as tracers, that are injected in very small amounts (in the sub-picomolar concentration range) into a patient's bloodstream. The biological principle used for imaging is that more active brain regions recruit more of the blood-borne isotopes, and so more radioactivity will be detected from these regions. PET has somewhat poor temporal resolution, as it requires at least 40 seconds to construct a single image (Wolpaw & Wolpaw, 2012). fNIRS, on the other hand, exposes the brain non-invasively to near-infrared light, using spectroscopy at this frequency to measure the difference of oxygenation levels in the blood (the BOLD signals that fMRI uses). Though faster than PET, fNIRS is only able to measure activity only a few millimeters beyond the surface of the cortex, and has poorer spatial resolution (Wolpaw & Wolpaw, 2012).

Neuroimaging method	Activity measured	Direct/Indirect Measurement	Temporal resolution	Spatial resolution	Risk	Portability
EEG	Electrical	Direct	~0.05 s	~10 mm	Non- invasive	Portable
MEG	Magnetic	Direct	~0.05 s	~5 mm	Non- invasive	Non- portable
ECoG	Electrical	Direct	~0.003 s	~1 mm	Invasive	Portable
Intracortical neuron recording	Electrical	Direct	~0.003 s	~0.5 mm (LFP) ~0.1 mm (MUA) ~0.05 mm (SUA)	Invasive	Portable
fMRI	Metabolic	Indirect	~1 s	~1 mm	Non- invasive	Non- portable
NIRS	Metabolic	Indirect	~1 s	~5 mm	Non- invasive	Portable

Figure 1: A summary of some neuroimaging methods (from Nicolas-Alonso & Gomez-Gil, 2012)

There are other forms of neurotechnology such as cell therapy, electrostimulation, and pharmacological approaches, but the goal of this section is to provide an overview of the foundational technology that has driven forward the development of BCIs. In all of its century of development, the history of neurotechnology is not a particularly ancient one. Nevertheless, it is a rich history with a variety of approaches that offer implications reaching far into the possibilities of engineering and human biology.

### What's In A BCI?

A comprehensive textbook definition of a BCI can be found in *Brain-Computer Interfaces: Principles and Practice,* edited by Johnathan and Elizabeth Wolpaw:

"...a system that measures [central nervous system] activity and converts it into artificial output that replaces, restores, enhances, supplements, or improves natural [central nervous system] output and thereby changes the ongoing interactions between the [central nervous system] and its external or internal environment." (Wolpaw & Wolpaw, 2012)



Figure 2: The basic components of a BCI system.

The left side being for invasive systems and the right side for non-invasive. For the purposes of this review, the two will be summarized into a single pipeline, as they are similar in overall design. (from Chaudhary, Birbaumer, & Ramos-Murguialday, 2016).

We now have a definition for a BCI, but what exactly does such a system look like? A basic BCI has the following primary components: data acquisition, feature extraction, feature translation, and output (Wolpaw & Wolpaw, 2012). The first of these, data acquisition is performed using the neurotechnologies that are summarized in the previous section. Of course, depending on the modality of acquisition, the data given to the computer side of a BCI system takes on a different form, which determines how it is processed. In the following section, we will go over the processing steps that lead to output for the most popular forms of BCI data acquisition: EEG and ECoG.

#### **Preprocessing: Filtering & Artifact Rejection**

The first step to any signal processing paradigm is to clean the data. In this case, cleaning and transforming the data will help make the input more readable to the computer. As mentioned before, noise is an inherent concern when collecting any kind of signal, so there are special techniques that are employed to reduce and decouple noise. The most basic of these is a filter, which can be implemented at either the hardware or the software level. These take an incoming signal and allow certain frequencies to pass through, while blocking the rest. Common types of filters include: highpass, which cuts off frequencies below a threshold, lowpass, which cuts off frequencies above a threshold, bandpass, which only allows frequencies within a threshold band to pass through (e.g. 4Hz to 8Hz), and notch, which does the opposite of bandpass and blocks frequencies within a band. One standard filter for an EEG signal acquisition device, for example, is a bandpass filter that allows frequencies between .1Hz and 150Hz. These parameters are standard, as the frequencies of interest in the brain tend to be between these thresholds, and because electrode potential offset (the tiny measure of how far off from zero voltage recordings are) tends to occur below .1Hz (Burgess, 2019). Another example of noise comes from power lines, the constant flow of voltage required to power and run the signal acquisition device (60Hz in the USA, 50HZ in Europe). In addition to noise, there are artifacts that occur in brain data. These are aspects of the signal that stand out, but are not of interest, and so tend to confuse rather than help analysis. These include eye blinks (detected by electrodes near the eyes in EEG, but also visible in distant electrodes on the forehead and front of scalp), alpha wave activity (a frequency that occurs when an individual is tired or relaxed), and general physical movement of a participant (especially facial muscle movements). These are usually detected using researcher-arbitrated criteria and removed from the data or corrected using manual or automatic approaches.

Though fundamental aspects of processing brain data, filtering and artifact rejection are just the tip of the iceberg.

## Feature Extraction: Types of Features & Data Transformations

After this step, there are a couple directions one can go to create what are known as features, or the properties of data that are used to drive a BCI. For electrocorticography, these features can simply be neural spike trains; direct voltage data from a cell or population of cells (Rao, 2013). Another common feature used in both EEG and ECoG are power spectra frequency bands. Frequency bands are calculated using a technique called Fourier Transform, which decomposes the signal into a sum of waves, each with a different frequency. The power spectra result from squaring amplitudes of each wave, thus they represent the strength of a signal in square volts per frequency (v2/Hz)(Rao, 2013). Common frequency bands that are used as features, often in combination with one another, are known as delta (2-4Hz), theta (4-7Hz) alpha (8-12Hz), beta (16-25Hz), gamma (>30Hz), and mu, a sensorimotor rhythm in the alpha range that occurs with motor activity (Kilmesch, 2018). The mu rhythm is a good example of a feature used in motor imagery paradigms, where BCI users imagine moving a part of their body in order to control the device. Another common type of feature is the event-related potential (ERP), typically recorded with EEG but also used in ECoG nonetheless. As the name suggests, these patterns in brain activity occur as a result of a stimulus event response. The P300 is a robust, well-studied ERP that has been used in a number of paradigms (Wolpaw & Wolpaw, 2012). It gets its name from its valence relative to reference, positive, and its timing, around 300ms after stimulus onset (Rao, 2013). Steadystate visual evoked potential (SSVEP) is another ERP frequently used as a feature for BCI training. It occurs in reaction to stimuli that flash at a certain frequency, thus evoking the same frequency in regions of the brain associated with visual processing.

Other than the aforementioned Fourier Transform, there are other useful transformations on the data in order to make it easier to analyze. The results of these signal transformations can be used to extract features as well. Take for example the component analysis family, whose most popular members are principal component analysis (PCA) and independent component analysis (ICA). The primary goal of these algorithms is to reduce dimensionality of a given data set, effectively finding the primary properties of the signal across all electrodes, which typically elucidates either desired activity or strong artifacts (Artoni, Delorme, Makeig, 2018). Such component analyses can be used to extract ERPs as well as frequency band data (Artoni, Delorme, Makeig, 2018). So, transformations on filtered data work to bring a BCI's processing pipeline a step closer to output. Next, the resulting features must be used to train the system.

#### Feature Translation & Machine Learning

The feature translation step in a basic BCI system utilizes models that translate the data from features to commands. Depending on the question a researcher wants to answer, the kind of data at their disposal, and the paradigm used to get that data, different models are used. In fact, there are an infinite number of models one can apply to any given observation (Kieseppa, 2001). The models used in BCI systems are either regressive, with output on a continuous spectrum, or discriminant/classifying, with output divided into distinct "classes." Models interact with user input to create output using three main approaches: 1) the model learns to create the proper output through machine learning, 2) the user learns how to create the input that gives the desired output, or 3) a hybrid approach known as "co-adaptation" (Wolpaw & Wolpaw, 2012).

When it comes to brands of machine learning models, there are supervised learning models and unsupervised learning models, both tasked with the job of decoding brain activity. With supervised approaches, a model is given training data with labels (e.g. "Left Hand" or "Right Hand") attributed to the output. After learning from the training data, these models can be used to determine to which label the features extracted from novel data belong. Unsupervised learning approaches, on the other hand, do not use labels. Models using this technique are more left to their own devices to connect trends of input data to types of outputs. ICA and PCA are examples of these, as they calculate the most principal features in the data, which can be used as output parameters (Rao, 2013). Linear least-squares classification functions are a commonly used discriminant, supervised learning model. They use the linear formula:

#### $Y = b_1 * x_1 + b2 * x2 + \dots + bn * xn + a$ (1)

where b is a weight, a is a constant, each x is a feature, and the output is Y. Using the output Y provided in a training session, the b weights can be calculated by a separate equation and saved to be used for novel data (Wolpaw & Wolpaw, 2012). One limitation of models like this one is that they assume linearity of the relationship between the data and the output. There are also nonlinear approaches like artificial neural networks, a regression approach which mimics the decision-making capabilities of neurons using weighted inputs that are summed together and outputted based on an activation threshold (Rao, 2013). Feature translation can be done either online (during a session for live feedback) or offline (anytime after a session's data has been collected). Once the features have been translated into commands, they are ready to be externalized into the world through the device.

#### **Output & Feedback**

In general, the purpose of BCI outputs is to either choose a goal or control a process (Wolpaw & Wolpaw, 2012). Choosing a goal could mean something as simple as switching on or off a lightswitch, or something as complex as moving a robotic arm to a location in 3D space. Once a goal is chosen, the interface does the work to produce whatever processes lead to that goal. In the robotic arm example, these processes would include any necessary rotations and translations required to reach the outputted goal state. An output that controls a process, however, involves the user in every step required to reach the goal state. Using the same example, the outputs would be the rotations and translations themselves. This gives the user more control over the path that reaches the goal state, but can be more demanding on both the user and the BCI (Wolpaw & Wolpaw, 2012).

The inner workings that drive BCI usage from end-to-end is a closed-loop system. As we have now explored, the user's input is processed translated into commands that are outputted to the interface, which then performs a function that is externalized to the user, who subsequently updates their input according to the new state of the system. Now that we know how these systems work, let's look at some examples of how they've been used.

### **Applications of BCIs**

There are BCIs that use all of the neurotechnology covered above and more. The first known brain-computer interface was used as far back as the 1960s! Remember our friend Grey Walter from earlier? He performed an experiment in which he asked a patient who was undergoing brain surgery to press a button to advance the slides on a slide projector whilst he recorded the corresponding brain activity with an electrode (Graimann, Allison, & Pfurtscheller, 2011). After finding the ideal recording spot, Walter connected the other end of the recording electrode to the slide projector, and found that the slide would advance even before the patient's intention to press the button. Despite this early discovery, the term "brain-computer interface" itself wasn't actually used until Vidal coined the term in the 70s, for his "Brain Computer Interface project," which sought to use EEG-acquired visual evoked responses for input into a computer program (Vidal, 1973). Following an uptick in DARPA funding around that time, the field of brain-computer interfaces slowly grew. The 1990s saw the pioneering studies of Wolpaw, McFarland, and colleagues, who successfully developed a BCI for one-dimensional cursor control using sensorimotor rhythm activity (Wolpaw, McFarland, Neat, Forneris, 1991). This allowed completely paralyzed patients to communicate by moving a computer cursor "with their minds." Even more than twenty years ago, non-invasive BCI

were reaching levels of 90% accuracy and greater, but at the cost of long selection periods up to 5 seconds (Doris, Wolpaw, Pfurtscheller, McFarland, 1997).

At their current stage, BCIs have become most useful as drivers of assistive technology (AT) in cases of stroke, muscular atrophy diseases like amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), cerebral palsy, spinal cord injury, all of which tend to be causes of locked-in syndrome -- a state of complete or nearcomplete loss of muscle movement, but normal cognitive function. Examples of assistive technologies are wheelchairs, communication boards, and text-tospeech software.



Figure 3: Another outline of a BCI pipeline, with various examples of BCI applications on the right side. © 2012 IEEE.

BCIs have been paired with movement-related assistive technologies in several paradigms using wheelchair control as well as robotic arm control simply

with brain activity (Achic, Montero, Penazola, & Cuellar, 2016; Bousseta et al., 2018). Beyond replacing (loco)motor capabilities, BCIs have also aided in speech rehabilitation via what are known as BCI spellers. These are systems that use various brain signals in order for the user to type words on a computer. One popular paradigm uses the P300, the ERP mentioned previously. In this paradigm, letters are shown on a screen in rapid succession, also known as rapid-serial visual presentation (RSVP). When the user sees the letter they want to type, the surprise or "aha!" feeling associated with detecting a target typically elicits a P300, which can be recognized by the BCI and outputted to the application (Oken et al., 2018). There have also been video game- and VR-related applications to BCIs, such as the Pacman-like BCI created at the Fraunhofer Institute in Germany (Krepki, Blankertz, Curio, & Müller, 2007; Coogan & He, 2018). BCIs have also been used for recognition of other cognitive and perceptual phenomena. For example, multiple studies have used EEG to classify a user's emotions (Nafjan, Hosny, Al-Olahi, & Al-Wabil, 2017). Another group was able to classify a user's perception of a Necker cube, an illusion that can be seen as having different orientations depending on one's perception (Hramov et al., 2017). This classification of more abstract mental states spells quite a versatile future for BCI applications, as they can be used in more than just motor-related contexts. It is important to note that a BCI is not the same as its application, rather it is a component of the application that is used for control (Wolpaw & Wolpaw, 2012). ATs, for example, exist outside of BCIs, but bringing them together opens up a whole new world of interaction for a user.

#### Usability

An important aspect of the application side of BCI is usability, the relationship between the user and the application. Feedback, or what the user experiences from the interface as a result of their actions, is one facet of usability that is studied in BCI research. Better feedback helps to better control and understand a device and how it can be used to reach goal states. If a user tries an input and it leads to the wrong output that is clearly shown (e.g. the robotic arm moves in a direction that is just slightly off), this feedback helps the user understand how to interact with the interface. Cognitive psychologist Donald Norman, who has extensively developed design and information theory for decades, puts the idea of feedback into perspective using the examples of both auditory and visual feedback: "Imagine trying to talk to someone when you cannot hear your own voice, or trying to draw a picture with a pencil that leaves no mark: there would be no feedback" (Norman, 1988). Proper feedback drives our usage of systems, be they cognitive or physical. Thus, the effects of a BCI system's output on the application or on itself must be unambiguous to the user. Two other facets of usability that are considered in BCI research are the practicality of the mode of acquisition and the interface design (Baek, Chang, Heo, & Park, 2019). Aspects of the device experience like how comfortable the headset is, how practical the interface is for daily life, and the longevity of its use are all important to how the application itself is designed in accordance with the BCI.





An invaluable asset to both biomedical research and the healthcare industry, BCIs have seen numerous applications in the past few decades. While they have grown considerably with time, like any relatively new technology, there are still areas on both the computational and the usability sides that are under constant improvement.

### **Current Limitations**

As we now know, each approach to building a BCI has its limitations from the signal acquisition level to the output and application levels. The following section will explore some of the main limitations of BCI research and the practical use of BCI applications.

#### Limitations of Signal Processing & Classification

The issue with many signal processing algorithms is that they only work for specific problems (Rashid et al., 2020). For example, algorithms like empirical mode decomposition (EMD), and independent vector analysis (IVA) are good for small numbers of features, but suffer drawbacks of artifact detection in certain frequencies. Other approaches that work better for a higher dimensionality of features sometimes do so at the cost of being too slow and are thus impractical for live use (Rashid et al., 2020). Furthermore, "tried and true" techniques like PCA and some implementations of ICA have been found to cause "eigenspectors," artifacts that cause a misallocation of spectral density (Leichter, 2013). Moving forward, researchers seek to create signal processing algorithms that are both sensitive to artifacts, while also working efficiently and accurately enough to be used in live sessions.

In terms of classification, one of the main issues is the information transfer rate (ITR) of BCIs. ITR, also known as bit-rate (bit/min), is a common metric that synthesizes classification accuracy, the number of classes, and the time that it takes to make a selection (McFarland, Sarnacki, & Wolpaw 2003). BCIs that use P300 spellers are known to have poor ITR, which is even lower for those that are used in virtual reality and gaming applications. One solution to this has been the use of hybrid BCIs, which utilize the higher ITR of activity like SSVEP alongside those with lower ITR in order to boost the net ITR of the system (Achic, Montero, Penazola, & Cuellar, 2016). Higher ITR systems also have a decreased calibration time, so it means all the more to user experience to increase classification speed and accuracy.

### Limitations of EEG Signal Acquisition & Interface Design

As we have seen before, modalities of signal acquisition have strengths in some areas but suffer from weaknesses in others. Despite its wide availability, the lower signal to noise ratio in EEG makes it harder to develop BCIs that use finer movements. ECoG can alleviate this, but at the cost of a timely and expensive surgery. Another end of EEG's limitation is the timely and often uncomfortable process required to apply "wet" EEG systems, which use conductive gel to increase signal quality. The introduction of "dry" EEG systems have erased the need for conductive gel and are, therefore, easier to use but possibly at the cost of signal strength and quality (Mathewson, Harrison, & Kizuk, 2017). The advent of mobile or wireless EEG systems also exemplify a development toward more portable EEG recording. Traditional wired systems are typically considered a reliable gold standard in research, though there is increasing evidence that wireless systems are equally as reliable (Kam et al., 2019).

In terms of interface design, some paradigms like the RSVP paradigm mentioned earlier require a great deal of focus on rapidly displayed letters, which may be tiring to a user over a long period of time (Oken et al., 2018). One direction could be to display the letters more slowly, but this would turn typing a word into a much longer process. When it comes to interaction design, tradeoffs like these are common issues that are considered deeply to find the best attributes to a system for ideal user experience.

The technical and design realms are not the only areas for improvement. There are other factors that limit the current capacity for BCIs in daily use, such as the price accessibility of such a system and the generalizability of usage (e.g. the availability for a single device to be used at different levels of fatigue, or by multiple parties). Each approach to improving BCIs is unique and focuses on different levels of the overall system, but all aim for the same goal: "to provide a direct link between the inductive mental processes used in solving problems and the symbol-manipulating, deductive capabilities of the computer" (Vidal, 1973).

## **Mental Imagery**

As you read these words, imagine a piece of paper in your mind. Now, have you got it? Chances are your paper is rectangular and white. This is likely due to the fact that most leaves of paper you have seen in the past have been white, like the one these sentences are written on (Kosslyn & Moulton, 2009). Now take that piece of paper from your mind and bring it outward. Let it fly around you, flutter right in front of your face, even go behind you. Now, you can not see behind you but, somehow, you may now have an image of what this "something behind you" is. Finally, imagine yourself grasping that paper, crumpling it. Can you hear the crackling? Feel the light material bend? Let the paper dissolve, now, into nothing. Or was it anything to begin with?

This thought experiment, an extended reimagining of one given in Kosslyn & Moulton's paper on mental imagery as emulation, is meant to exemplify mental imagery's multifunctionality as a process involving memory, visuo-spatial reasoning, and multisensory emulation (Yates, 1966; Kosslyn & Moulston, 2009). Beyond this exercise, in daily life outside of experimental paradigms, mental imagery does so much more. It is a central part of our interaction with the world. Thus, as with psychological science in general, the concept of mental imagery has been a subject of study, and profound debate, for millennia. Looking into its history, it is clear that contemporary theories of mental imagery and its role in cognition have well-alive roots in ancient theories from ages ago. As we will explore, what has changed over time alongside these theories are the empirical evidences that are used to support or refute them.

### A History of Debate

What philosophers and scientists of today may call "mental representations" Aristotle knew as "phantasma," or residue from actual, stimulus-driven perception (Thomas, 2014). He believed that these images of the mind provided us with the energy and direction required to reach goal states in the world (McMahon, 1973). Aristotle also held the idea that semantics, the meaning behind language, was related to imagery (Thomas, 2014). Though ancient in comparison to the developments in modern psychology that have occurred since, Aristotle's early conceptions of mental representations in the human mind have analogs to comparatively more recent theories of mental imagery.

One of these analogs came in the form of Thomas Hobbes' argument for materialism, which theorizes an answer for a fundamental question of mind itself: is there a difference between the physical properties of the brain and the inscrutable phenomenon of conscious experience? In the scope of mental imagery, this question asks about the necessity of the separation between perception, actually seeing a stimulus, and imagination, seeing a stimulus from an internal source, i.e., "in the mind's eye". The nature of mental imagery was, and still is, cause for metaphysical debate. Indeed, materialists like Thomas Hobbes defended the idea that images were nothing but "decaying sense," which can be thought of like a "pendulum swing gradually decreasing in amplitude" (Leviathan I.2; Thomas, 2014). This bears much similarity to Aristotle's "phantasma" which he thought were also remnants of exogenous sensation. Hume was another one of the materialists who backed the indistinction of perception and imagination. He compared percepts, which he called "impressions," to images in that they "did not differ in kind, only in their degree of [vivacity]" (Thomas, 2014). Non-materialists like Renee Descartes, Jean-Paul Sartre, and Thomas Reid, on the other hand, made a clear distinction between stimulus-driven perception and imagined experience. Descartes tended to embrace the distinction between the two, believing that mental images began as material in the brain but were passed onto mind, which was of a different, nonmaterial quality (Descartes' Optics, 1637; Thomas, 2014).



Figure 5. Descartes' depiction of human visual perception. Descartes believed that the pineal gland (left) was the part of the brain that bridged perception from the senses to images of the soul. (from *Traite de l'homme,* Descartes, 1648)

Through its discussion in the philosophy of mind, mental imagery became of great interest in the budding field of psychology in the late 19th century. Because of the field's beginnings, which relied heavily on introspective analysis, the veracity of mental imagery was implicit among early psychologists. Most of us, after all, are quite familiar with our own mental imagery. This implication was, however, deeply shaken upon the results from a 1901 experiment at the Wurzburg School in Germany. There, researchers found evidence for what they called "Bewusstseinslage," imageless thought (summarized by Humphrey, 1951). Though the original study methods would be considered deeply flawed by contemporary standards due to the fact that the experimenters themselves were participants, a series of follow-up studies confirming the existence of imageless thoughts began to pop up (Buhler, 1907-08, from Humphrey, 1951; Marbe, 1901). With these experimental results, the study of mental imagery that seemed so certain became less credible. The rise of behaviorist psychology - - the theory that psychology can be understood from the observation of a subjects behaviors (think Pavlov's dog) -- in the early 20th century, marked the final turning-away of most researchers from mental imagery studies. In fact, behaviorist dogmatists

considered it completely foolish to look within one's psyche and try to develop theories based on their subjective reports.

It was not until the rise of cognitivist theory in the 1960s and 1970s that mental imagery slowly became of interest again. Researchers like Paivio, Piaget, and Holt re-emboldened into psychology the importance of cognition, the internal mental processing that defines psychological phenomena. And with this rebirth rose another debate, this time about the very nature of mental images, rather than their difference from stimulus-driven perception. At the forefront of this debate -- known in relevant circles as "the imagery debate" -- were Kosslyn and Pylyshyn. Kosslyn favored the "pictorial" side of the debate, which held the idea that mental images were depictive in nature (Tye, 1991). By depiction, this stance did not argue that imagery takes the form of exact photos, rather it is represented in a similar way to how external pictures have visuo-spatial features (Thomas, 2014). Because of its similarity to actual pictures, but being mental in nature rather than external, Kosslyn called this theory a quasi-pictorial theory. Pylyshyn, on the other hand, leaned toward the "descriptive" side of the debate. This side held that mental images were propositional in nature, in that they were represented by a system that used syntax, structure, and semantics, much like language. This was similar to Fodor's theory of "mentalese," the inner, unspoken language of conceptual representation of the mind (Thomas, 2014). Of course, some theorists preferred a more holistic approach that included aspects from both sides of this debate. Kosslyn and Pylyshyn's Imagery Debate is, though, a paramount example of the debates that have driven forward the study of mental imagery.

So, we've now seen that the definition of mental imagery has experienced a multitude of formulations, many a cause for debate. Though most of these theories focus on visual mental imagery, primarily because vision plays such a central role for humans, some are generalizable to images of all sensory modalities. Beyond introspection and subjective reporting, the advent of neurotechnology has given rise to numerous neuroscientific studies that have paired brain activity with a number of mental imaging paradigms. Thus, these studies have been used as evidence to elucidate the physical mechanisms and subsequent subjective effects of mental imagery.
## Mental Imagery and the Brain

Given the window into the brain that neurotechnology has provided, researchers have explored a number of sensory modalities and their neural correlates. In general, it has been found that mental imagery in a given sensory modality activates the same brain regions related to the actual perception of that modality (Moulton & Kosslyn, 2008). Visual mental imagery, for example, has been found to elicit activity in V1, the primary visual cortex, even to the point of modulating the activity as a function of how vivid the image is (Nanay, 2018). This overlap between brain activity related to imagery and that of perception has been used as evidence for the pictorial side of the images are depictive in nature; seeing that we perceive the world in a depictive manner, activating the same brain region in imagery is evidence for the depictive nature of mental images (Kosslyn, 2005).





A) and B) show the intraparietal area 1 (IP1), intraparietal sulcus 1 (IPS1), and dorsal and ventral lateral intraparietal (LIP) areas; C) shows the greater activity in the left hemisphere than the right. There is also bilateral visual cortex activity (in the 'back' of the brain) because all studies tested visual mental imagery (from Winlove et al., 2018)

Other than V1, parts of the parietal lobe and occipitotemporal cortex have been found to be correlated with mental imagery in humans. A recent metaanalysis of forty different neuroimaging studies observing visual mental imagery of scenes or objects found consistent activation in the superior parietal lobe -specifically in the left hemisphere -- across all studies (Winlove et al., 2018). Interestingly, the same meta-analysis found some studies with activation of rostral area 6 and the inferior frontal sulcus, which have been found to be related to the semantic processing of language and decision-making. This could suggest mental imagery is semantic in nature as well, providing support for the descriptive side of the imagery debate. However, as the authors of the metaanalysis note, to attribute a single anatomical area of the brain to a single function is a challenge due to the human brain's complexity. Thus some studies have employed more network-oriented approaches to neurophysiology, studying interconnected circuitry of activation that is correlated with mental imagery, rather than just isolated regions. One such study used ECoG to observe connected activity in both the frontal and temporoparietoocciptal in relation to the decision process in rotating mental images of 3D shapes (Nikolaev, 1995). Though it is prevalent in most discussions of imagery, visual mental imagery is not the only sensory modality that has been studied in experimental paradigms. Parietal regions of the brain have also been found to be activated for both spatial, motor, and tactile imagery (Sack et al., 2008; Jeannerod, 2001; Schmidt, Ostwald, & Blankenburg, 2014).

In general, the parietal cortex is considered to be part of a network for mental imagery representation that includes the prefrontal cortex at the higher level, and the relevant sensory region at the lower level (Jeannerod, 2001). Oftentimes, regions of the occipitotemporal cortex are found to be active in this network as well. A study in spatial imagery, for example, found that motorrelated information from sensory brain areas send signals to the parietal cortex, which are routed to the prefrontal cortex (Sack, 2008). Similarly, there is evidence of a "construction network" that involves activation in the primary and secondary somatosensory cortices (responsible for tactile sensation) followed by the lateral occipital visual-tactile area (Schmidt, Ostwald, & Blankenburg, 2014). Imagery of different sensory modalities, of course, likely do not use the exact same circuitry. But the locality of regions activated across modalities points to a common network for mental imagery, which bears striking similarities to the network for actual sensory perception. Beyond just their spatial similarities, even the temporal qualities of actual movement and imagined movement are nearly identical (Jeannerod, 2001). The reason for the experiential difference of mental imagery despite near identicality to actual perception is still relatively uncertain. A discussion of mental imagery by French neuroscientist Marc Jeannerod points to a couple of theories for this difference in the context of motor activity. For one, it could be that neural activations due to mental imagery are not strong enough to elicit actual muscle activity. On the other hand, there could be an inhibitory mechanism at play during mental imagery (Jeannerod, 2001). Jeannerod also proposes a synthesis of the two, offering that, perhaps, there could be

"subthreshold preparation to move" paired with a "parallel suppression of overt movement by inhibitory influences." This discussion, though specific to motor studies and corticospinal activity, can also be generalized to other sensory modalities. This could explain why mental imagery both facilitates later perception in the same modality, and suppresses perception if an individual attempts to exercise both at the same time (Chang & Pearson, 2018; Zvyagintsev et al., 2013).

Though the neural substrates of mental imagery are continuing to be studied, the general activation of the relevant sensory brain region during mental imagery is a well-established finding in the field. The extensive research done on mental imagery has not only aided the development of underlying theories, but they have also had a tremendous impact on BCI research, due to the use of mental imagery as a primary input method for BCI applications.

## **BCIs for Mental Imagery Classification**

Now we know that imagery is a type of mental representation that plays an important role in our thought processes via emulation of actual perception. Despite the debate, it is generally accepted that 1) images refer to something out in the world, and 2) are produced at the voluntary will of a mind (with some exceptions, like intrusive or instinctive imagery). Thus, in a way, mental imagery is a mapping from our internal world of expectation, representation, and intentionality, to the external world of actions and outputs. This viewpoint highlights why imagery is so useful to BCI research: the neural activity that roughly encodes our internal world is a window into that world, or at least how it is represented. This is how we use tools beyond BCIs, afforded by their functions and constrained by their limitations. Using pencils, we are able to map our intentions through the function of making markings on a surface. Using a guitar, we map our intentions through the strings and strumming patterns to create the desired output. Now what makes BCI so unique is the fluidity of this mapping. Because of its prevalence in human cognitive processes, mental imagery can be further explored as a heuristic for mapping intentionality at an even more complex level in BCI systems. Although imagery-based paradigms are notoriously less salient than others (due to the lack of an actual stimulus), especially in non-invasive brain recording, researchers have still been successful in using imagery as a reliable input.

## **Motor Imagery**

The overwhelming majority of imagery-based BCI have to do with motor imagery. In fact, searching Pubmed, a world leading database for published clinical studies, for the terms "BCI" AND "Imagery" yields 995 results, while a search for the terms "BCI" AND "Imagery" AND "Motor" yields 953 results, which roughly exemplifies the sheer presence of motor imagery as a use for BCI research. There are a few reasons for this, one of which being a primary reason for clinical BCI research in the first place: to restore or replace motor activity. It is a more natural effort for an individual to map the movement of a robotic arm to imagined muscle movement of their own arm than to, say, their emotional state. Thus, BCI applications like cursor and arm movement studies have benefited most from motor imagery paradigms.

In general, motor imagery BCI systems utilize the power of two frequency bands -- mu, or the sensorimotor rhythm (8-12 Hz), and beta (18-30 Hz) -- for input. As we already know from the previous section, motor imagery yields the most activity over the sensorimotor cortex. BCI applications using motor imagery have a long history, some of which have been discussed in earlier sections. The late 1980s and 1990s studies of Wolpaw and McFarland utilized motor imagery as for EEG-controlled cursor movement (Krusienski, McFarland, Wolpaw, 2006; Wolpaw, McFarland, Neat, Forneris, 1991). The high accuracy rates of their participants only further solidified motor imagery as a gold standard in BCI. Since then, motor imagery has been used in increasingly complex cursor movement studies, as well as wheelchair and prosthetic limb applications (Yu et al., 2018; Gannouni et al., 2020). Recently, BCIs have even been used for the control of quadcopter drones, further exemplifying the diversity of possibilities for applications (Xie et al., 2016; He et al., 2013). Usually, binary classification (left or right hand/foot motor imagery) is used for commands, but a growing number of systems are achieving more complex levels of classification. In the case of one wheelchair application, for example, researchers were able to classify four motor imagery tasks at 94.2% accuracy to accelerate, decelerate, turn, and stop the wheelchair (Yu et al., 2018). As computation and technology become more powerful, even more complex actions are foreseen to be possible with the use of BCIs.

The use of motor imagery (and imagery in general, for that matter) for BCIs is, however, not without its limitations. The most common of these limitations arises from the fact that the strength of mental imagery can be weak to nonexistent for some individuals. For those without any mental imagery, possessing a neurological condition known as aphantasia, tasks that require it can be, understandably, very difficult to follow. Thus, for this group, mental imagery may not be the easiest form of mapping intention to external action. Interestingly, the vividness of a mental image may not be correlated with BCIilliteracy, a condition describing the estimated 10-30% of BCI users who are unable to achieve accuracy levels necessary for adequate control (Vasilyev et al., 2017). Multiple studies have, instead, found that the resting state amplitude of the sensorimotor (mu) rhythm, an individual's ability to suppress this rhythm, and attentional and spatial abilities are better predictors of BCI-illiteracy (Vasilyev et al., 2017; Blankertz et al., 2010; Jeunet, Kaoua, & Lotte, 2016). In other words, the strength of a person's experience of motor imagery is different from the classifiability of the resulting EEG activity, pointing to another limitation of mental imagery for BCIs: brain activity is an approximation of an actual mental state; it is not an exact mapping, but a rough representation with the goal of accurate output. This is not to say that vividness of a mental image is not important. The strength of one's mental image plays a key role in their feeling of control, which is vital in any interface. Finally, mental fatigue, a limitation of any paradigm, is often seen in motor imagery studies. It has been found that, with increased fatigue, the power of lower frequency bands is affected, thus dampening the system's ability to classify with accuracy (Talukdar, Hazarika, Gan, 2018).

#### **Other Forms of Imagery**

Though the most prevalent, motor imagery is not the only form of imagery that has been used as an input for BCIs. Mental object rotation has also been used in a few BCI studies (Friedrich, Scherer, & Neuper, 2012; Abibullaev, An, & Moon, 2011; Hwang, Lim, & Im, 2014) with significant classification accuracy. A few studies have also used BCIs to detect mental arithmetic, where participants are tasked with simple math to do in their heads (Im, Shin, & Kwon, 2018). Another group of studies have classified mental singing, either alone or in combination with mental arithmetic, in participants using BCIs (Power, Kushki, & Chau, 2012). In many cases, in fact, these BCIs were tested on multiple forms of imagery (motor vs. mental arithmetic vs. mental singing, for example), with the non-motor imagery trials sometimes being more consistently classifiable than the motor ones. This classification difference could actually provide an individualized solution to BCI-illiteracy; individuals who struggle to produce satisfactory output using motor imagery could find more success in other forms of imagery.

Non-motor forms of imagery as input for BCI open up the field to an array of potential forms of interaction that exist beyond physical activity. They can give individuals with communication disorders an avenue for expressing their more complex, inner thoughts. They can provide concept-specific classification (i.e. is this person wanting food, or assistance with their chair?) that allows for a more direct mapping of intentions to output than a selection screen can. Much like language allows us to approximate our internal concepts via lingual outputs, BCI, especially by use of the imagery that we use to represent these internal concepts, can offer an approximate mapping via brain activity classification.

## Shape Imagery

The use of BCIs in design software has increased as its potential grows with emerging research (Folgieri et al., 2016). One form of imagery classification with particularly notable implications for design-related applications is shape mental imagery classification. A most relevant application for shape imagery classification, especially for three-dimensional shapes, is computer-aided design (CAD) software, which has, in its development over the past couple decades, provided engineers, designers, and artists with a powerful modality for object and structural modeling. Many studies have observed the intuitive use and multipurpose capabilities of BCI in CAD software, opening up possibilities for more complex and in-depth implementations (Bhat et al., 2013, Rahul et al., 2013, Lang, 2012).



Figure 7: An example of CAD software. Courtesy of BobCAD-CAM, Inc.

These studies have used, in general, two principal approaches to explore applications of BCI in CAD software: 1) replacing typically mouse-controlled spatial functions (e.g. lateral translation, rotation) with brain-activity-controlled implementations, and 2) classification of geonic structures from mental imagery with the goal of shape generation in the virtual space. What these two approaches, in essence, aim to do is decode the mental state of the user and provide output into the world, or, in this case, the software. In the first approach, BCI researchers typically use activity in the sensorimotor or temporal cortices (imagined hand movements) or visual activity (SSVEP, eye movement) as the general paradigm for mapping brain-activity to existing software controls. On the other hand, classification of shape mental imagery, is an approach that attempts to classify the imagination to a congruent output. In other words, the user imagines a shape, and the computer outputs that shape.

As stated before, what this potential modality for BCI use in CAD software can add is a more direct mapping of user's intent and the actions required to realize that intent in the world; a relationship that is called the gulf of execution in human-computer interaction (Kirkpatrick, 2002; Norman, 1988). In a traditional interface, a user must map their intent to a series of cursor movements and buttons (e.g. Insert -> Shapes -> Cube -> Isometric) to produce an output in the program. This paradigm is known as WIMP -- Windows, Icons, Menus, Pointers (Hinckley, 1996). While this method of input requires precise physical movements that are memorized over time with the occasional erroneous action, a BCI interface replaces that physical cursor control with brain activity, erasing the need for such gestures and allowing individuals with neurodegenerative disorders to interact more easily with such design software. What previous research using this approach has lacked, however, is the ability to generate entire shapes (rather than just gestures) using only BCI. The addition of shape mental imagery classification, the second of the two approaches to BCI in CAD software, can grant this ability. This approach allows the user to intend a specific object, which is then efficiently recognized by the machine and outputted onto the screen. Although the present study focuses on this approach, we believe that a holistic implementation that combines the two is ideal.

Shape mental imagery has a history of study, but hardly any in BCI research. Though its use in the field is relatively new and unexplored, the exploration of shape mental imagery can be a pivotal addition to both BCI development in general, and the intuitive use of such technology. Design and simulation in CAD software is a practice in which fluidity of control is key. The implementation of BCI in CAD software is a key step toward the ability to spatially translate, rotate, and generate, and morph virtual objects in an intuitive manner that is accessible to all. We hope to contribute to the work that reaches that point and beyond.

# A Novel BCI System for 3D Shape Imagery Classification

To date, there have only been two shape imagery classification studies: Esfahani & Sundararajan (2012) and Korik et al. (2018). Esfahani & Sundarajan created an EEG-based BCI that was able to classify five primitive shapes (cube, sphere, pyramid, cone, cylinder) from the brain activity of participants (Esfahani & Sundararajan, 2012). The goal of the research was to explore possible computer-aided design software implementations of BCIs, with the hope that the technology could eventually utilize shape mental imagery classification to inform object generation in a CAD interface. The present study seeks to replicate the shape imagery classification accuracy results of Esfahani & Sundararajan (chosen over Korik et al. due to higher classification accuracy), particularly Experiment 1.2, in which researchers were able to classify the five shapes with a 44.6% average accuracy across all participants (n = 10). We performed an extension to this study that employs the similar preprocessing, feature extraction, and classification methods, but using a wet EEG system with 64 electrodes, as compared to the dry 14-electrode system used in the original study. Although wet electrode systems are less portable and take more time to apply, the conductive gel used in wet systems has been found to significantly decrease electrode impedance, and analyze a wider frequency range (Mathewson, Harrison, & Kizuk, 2017; Waldert, 2016). Furthermore, the sheer increase of electrodes from 14 to 64 is also likely increase accuracy, as it has been found that higher density electrode systems have increased capability for accurate source localization (Song et al., 2015). At the same time, there is growing evidence of the reliability of the dry systems, even compared to wet systems (Kam et al., 2019). Still, wet systems remain a golden standard in the field of neuroimaging. Our goal was to test this gold standard, for which we hypothesized that the addition

of a wet electrode system with an increased number of electrodes would significantly increase classification accuracy of the five shapes.

## Methods

#### **Experimental Design**

The design of the present study follows that of the original paper, with the five shapes from the original study (cube, sphere, cone, pyramid, and cylinder) used as the primary visual imagery targets. The first two sessions included examples of the isometric shapes that participants would be asked to imagine. These examples, however, were later omitted in later sessions due to the fact that participants could be attempting to remember them exactly throughout the experiment, thus making the task more relevant to memory than imagery. Participants were also asked to imagine the shapes at the same color, position, and orientation during each mental imagery portion of the trials.

Each trial displayed a word cue for 2s (ex. "Cube", "Cone"), denoting the shape that the participant would be asked to imagine, after which there was a 5s blank screen (with a constant fixation cross in the center) during which the participant was to imagine the shape as if it were on the screen. Then, for a random interval between 2s and 5s, a ready screen asking the participant to prepare for the next cue was shown, and the next trial began. Every shape was randomly cued (without replacement) once in each block. Halfway through the session, each participant was allowed to take a quick break to rest. During this time all participants remained seated, and moved minimally. After the break, the user was prompted to press the spacebar to begin the next half.

In total, this study had two main experiments, differing in number of blocks. In Experiment 1 (n = 6), there were 10 blocks where each shape was presented once, creating a total of 50 trials. After some consideration about the potential effect that the number of trials may have on the classification accuracy, Experiment 2 (n = 1) was designed to observe if any changes in accuracy

correlated with an increased number of trials. This experiment had 20 blocks with the same each shape presented once per block, creating a total of 100 trials.

Finally, all participants were compensated monetarily for the 2-hour session. After signing a consent form, participants were fitted with the EEG device in a low-light, soundproof recording room. All experimental sessions were run after the study design received International Review Board (IRB) approval.

#### **EEG System & Signal Acquisition**

The experiment utilized a custom 64-electrode EEG cap to acquire electrical activity, applied to the scalp with Ag-AgCl gel to keep impedance below  $10k\Omega$ . The signal acquired by the cap was amplified by two 32-channel amplifiers (Brain Amp Standard; Brain Products), which were then digitized by a recording computer. The system sampled the data at 500Hz with an online filter that employed .1Hz low and 150Hz high cutoffs.



Figure 8: EEG Cap Electrode Layout and Channel Numbers (From EASYCAP GmbH)

#### **Preprocessing & Feature Extraction**

A custom MATLAB script using MATLAB's Signal Processing Toolbox and the package EEGLAB was used to perform the necessary preprocessing and feature extraction after experimental sessions (Delorme & Makeig, 2004). First, the signal was re-referenced to the same two electrodes, 26 and 29 in Figure 8, corresponding to the two reference electrodes used in the original study. This left 61 channels of signal for processing (64 electrodes minus the ground electrode and the two reference electrodes). The raw signal was then downsampled to 128Hz, lowpass filtered at 83Hz, and notch filters were applied at 50Hz and 60Hz. The resulting data was separated into the baseline data (2 to 5 seconds of passive brain activity between trials) and trial data (5 seconds of continuous brain activity starting with the word cue). The first 10% of the signal from each trial was cut in order to eliminate residual activity from the baseline period, leaving 4500ms of signal (shown in Figure 9).



Figure 9: Raw EEG signals and how they were cut for preprocessing and analysis.

(From Esfahani & Sundararajan, 2012)

For artifact rejection, signal deconvolution via an INFOMAX Independent Component Analysis (ICA) was applied to the data in order to find the strongest components in the signal (Makeig et al., 2000). The resulting artifactual components were rejected visually, using the topographical maps of spectral density for each component (Figure 10 below shows some examples of artifactual components). Once the artifacts were rejected, ICA was applied again to the pruned data, and the resulting component activations were used to calculate features. The features were generated using the power spectral density of the component activations in the beta and gamma frequency bands, as these were the most informative frequency bands in the previous study. The resulting features were normalized with respect to power spectra calculated from the baseline signal for each trial. With this feature generation, 122 features were generated per trial (61 independent component activations x 2 frequency bands). The top features for each shape in a given participant's data were selected using a chi-squared statistical test to determine the most informative features. The number of features -- 10-13 for most participants -- was decided by overall participant performance.



Figure 10: Examples of artifacts related to eye blinks (left) and bad channels (right).

#### Classification

With a custom Python script using the library Scikit-learn, a classifier was trained on the shape data using Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA). Each trial (50 for Experiment 1, 100 for Experiment 2) was given a label, which was one of

the five shapes depending on which was cued in that trial. The classifier was trained using a random 80% of the trial data, and tested on the remaining 20%. For further validation, another classifier was trained using k-fold crossvalidation, a technique that shuffles the data into k groups, selecting one of these groups for testing and training on the other k-1. This process is then done until all each of the k groups have been used as test sets, to evaluate the general robustness of the model for more than just one kind of test set. The average classification accuracy across all k groups was used as a metric to estimate its cross-validation performance. All code used in this pipeline is available online in the Github repository provided in the abstract.

## Results

## **Experiment 1**

#### Analysis of Spatial Activity

The original 2012 study found more activity in the right hemisphere during shape trials, a finding that was consistent with another mental imagery study (Mellet et al., 1996). In order to verify that the shape mental imageryelicited brain activity was, in fact, in accordance with these findings, the scalp topographies across all shapes for five frequency bands (alpha, beta, gamma, delta, theta) were generated.



Figure 11: Experiment 1 scalp topographies per shape (row) and frequency band (column), averaged across all six participants.

Darker red denotes higher bandpower, or more activity in that frequency band.

In general, the activity in Figure 11 is either bilateral (most clearly in the Cylinder trials, and somewhat in the Sphere and Cube trials), quite sparse (Cone trials and most of the gamma band column), or central and noisy (Pyramid trials). Regarding the bilateral activity, those topographies are more in line with earlier findings from Winlove et al. (2018), shown in figure 6, rather than those from Esfahani & Sundararajan (2012), who found a right hemisphere-dominant pattern. In their meta-analysis of visual mental imagery studies, Winlove et al. found most consistent activity bilaterally in parietal areas, which closely match the beta, alpha, and theta maps of the Cylinder trials, as well as some of the Cube and Sphere trials.

The noisier aspects of the plots are likely some residue of other artifacts (there is some evidence of blink artifacts, even after performing the artifact rejection step). It could be that the visual heuristic for rejecting ICA components was not sufficient for reducing the presence of artifacts. As mentioned before, ICA is a standard but imperfect artifact rejection method, and can be improved with modifications or using a hybrid technique (Leichter, 2013).

The sparse overall activity found for most of the Cone class could be shape-specific, a possibility that is supported by the results in the next subsection on classification. At the same time, however, because activity can have some variation between participants for the same task, it is also likely that the averaging process actually erased some of the clearer signals within individuals, which (See: Appendix A). This also explains the disappearance of gamma activity in Figure 11, which is more present in the individual plots.

#### Classification Results

In total, the average classification accuracy across participants was 43.3% (compared to the 44.6% found in Esfahani & Sundararajan), ranging between a maximum of 70% and a minimum 30%. Table 1 shows the average accuracy of the classifier's prediction versus the true class across all participants. Most of the hit rates for each class were well above chance (20%), peaking at 53.8% for Cube. The hit rate for Cone, however, was around chance level. Similar to Esfahani & Sundararajan's findings, the classifier more often confused Cone for Pyramid than correctly guessing Cone. This confusion could be explained by the perceptual similarity between cones and pyramids. This low accuracy is also in line with the sparse band power activity within the row for Cone trials (Figure 11). Interestingly, the classifier did not once guess Pyramid for Cylinder, Cylinder for Sphere, nor Cone for Cube. In the original study, there were no zero rates in the confusion matrix, so this could simply be unique to the analysis used for this experiment.

Classification Result (%)					
	Cube	Pyramid	Cylinder	Sphere	Cone

True Class	Cube	53.8	23.1	7.7	15.4	0.0
	Pyramid	20.0	50.0	10.0	10.0	10.0
	Cylinder	11.1	0.0	44.4	11.1	33.3
	Sphere	14.3	14.3	0.0	50.0	21.4
	Cone	14.3	35.7	21.4	7.1	21.4

Table 1: Confusion matrix of classification results, averaged across participants. Because of the randomization of the training-test sets, there are different numbers of observations of each true class in each test set. Hence, the columns do not add up to 100%, but the rows do. The bolded percentages are hit rates (correct guesses).

Contrary to the initial classification results, the k-fold cross-validation (k=5) yielded an average classification accuracy of about 24.3%, a near-chance level. This discrepancy very possibly occurred because of the randomness that the first classifier training method performed to split the data 80:20. When randomizing training and testing data, it is entirely possible that a single class appeared once in the test set (especially given that each test set has only 10 trials), thus making a single correct prediction yield 100% accuracy entirely for that shape. K-fold validation is there to make sure that *all* test set combinations are accounted for. Thus, the classifier performed well on randomized trials, but not as well for validation. Moving forward, a solution to this would be to simply have more trials, in which case the randomization would be less likely to falsely represent the model's actual fit, which is what was done for Experiment 2.

Lastly, in order to check for any outliers between shapes, another LDAbased classification was performed in a one-vs-all fashion (each class vs. the rest as a single group). The average one-vs-all classification accuracy across participants is presented in Table 2 below, which does not show a particular shape with a significantly lower classification accuracy than the others.

Shape	One-vs-All Classification Accuracy
Sphere	71.7
Pyramid	76.7
Cube	73.3
Cone	76.7
Cylinder	83.3

Table 2: One-vs-all classification results for all shapes, averaged across participants.

## **Experiment 2**

#### Classification Results

In the second experiment with an increased number of trials, the classifier reached an accuracy of 25%, barely above chance, and slightly below the lowest accuracy from the first experiment, 30%. Table 3 shows a clear drop in hit rates compared to Experiment 1, with the exception of the Cone class, which remained around chance level. Interestingly, k-fold cross-validation did not yield a different classification accuracy, most likely because of the increased number of trials. The more trials, the less likely a random selection is to create a false representation of the model.

	Classification Result (%)					
		Cube	Pyramid	Cylinder	Sphere	Cone
True Class	Cube	33.3	33.3	16.7	0.0	16.7
	Pyramid	33.3	33.3	0.0	33.3	0.0

	Cylinder	0.0	50.0	0.0	0.0	50.0
	Sphere	0.0	20.0	20.0	20.0	40.0
	Cone	0.0	50.0	0.0	25.0	25.0

Table 3: Confusion matrix of classification results in Experiment 2

The one-vs-all classification performed on this participant's data shows no shape that stood out significantly from the others to cause the extreme drop in accuracy, leaving factors outside of shape-specificity to be potential causes.

Shape	One-vs-All Classification Accuracy (%)
Sphere	65.0
Pyramid	70.0
Cube	70.0
Cone	70.0
Cylinder	80.0

Table 4: One-vs-all classification results for all shapes in Experiment 2

One of these potential causes was fatigue. It is known that increased fatigue during BCI use can negatively affect classification accuracy (Talukdar, Hazarika, Gan, 2018). In order to check for potential effects of fatigue, the classifier was subsequently trained and tested on only the first 50 trials. This yielded a classification accuracy of 30%, showing little but not particularly significant evidence for the effect of fatigue. Though this accuracy was slightly higher, Table 5 shows that most of the classes were at-chance-to-zero in their hit rates (with the exception of Pyramid and Cone).

Classification Result (%)

		Cube	Pyramid	Cylinder	Sphere	Cone
True Class	Cube	25.0	25.0	50.0	0.0	0.0
	Pyramid	0.0	50.0	0.0	0.0	50.0
	Cylinder	0.0	100.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
	Sphere	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	100.0
	Cone	0.0	0.0	0.0	50.0	50.0

Table 5 Confusion matrix of classification results of first 50 trials in Experiment 2

To check, again, for the potential effect of a single outlier class, one-vs-all classification was run on the first 50 trials of Experiment 2, shown in Table 6. this analysis, like the earlier one-vs-all classifiers, shows no particular outlier shape to cause the drop in accuracy.

Shape	One-vs-All Classification Accuracy (%)
Sphere	60.0
Pyramid	70.0
Cube	60.0
Cone	60.0
Cylinder	80.0

Table 6: One-vs-all classification results for all shapes in the first 50 trials of Experiment 2

With little evidence for fatigue being a significant cause of such poor classification accuracy, the scalp topography was also checked for anomalies.



Figure 12: Scalp topographies per shape (row) and frequency band (column) for Experiment 2.

These show that there is a considerable amount of frontal and posterior activity (around the perimeter of each plot), as well as sometimes blink-related activity as opposed to the bilateral activity in individual participant data. The posterior activity could be visual cortex-related activity from the occipital lobe, which was found in the visual imagery studies from Winlove et al., but this is unlikely due to the lack of such activity in the other participants' data. Instead, this could be a result of recording error, or something participant-specific. Unfortunately, there is not enough other data to tell. In future versions of this experiment, it will be vital to have multiple participants in order to compare anomalous data to a larger pool. In summary, the cause of such poor classification in Experiment 2 is uncertain, but could be explained by some small degree of fatigue, artifacts, and possible recording failure.

## Discussion

#### Classification

In general, the findings did not support the original hypothesis of increased accuracy given a greater number of electrodes and enhanced conductivity, having found a comparable accuracy (43.3% to the original study's 44.6%) in a randomized training/test setup, while also finding considerably lower accuracy (24.3%) when tested with k-fold cross-validation. The study's findings still, however, add to the conversation about BCI usability in wet and dry electrode systems. It is no surprising fact that dry electrode systems are more portable and comfortable for a user to wear compared to wet electrode systems. The research, however, regarding dry electrode systems being equal in reliability and, therefore, signal classifiability, is mixed, with sources posing arguments for either side (Kam et al., 2019; Mathewson, Harrison, & Kizuk, 2017). Even in this debate, wet systems are still considered a more trusted gold standard of the two in EEG research. This preference could also have to do with marketing, as dry electrode EEG systems are often marketed to more commercialized circles, and so are less trusted in having research-grade sensitivity. Now having continued evidence that a BCI using a dry electrode EEG system is able to reach a classification accuracy equal to or better than that of a wet electrode system is exciting. This suggests that these more portable options do not necessarily sacrifice accuracy for their convenience.

On this note, it is important to mention that our 4.5-fold increase of electrodes still yielded about the same classification accuracy as well. Not only is there evidence that more electrodes suggest better overall spatial resolution, but the large number of features that result from such an increase (from 70 to 305, reduced to 122 to narrow down to the beta and gamma frequency bands) also implies better classification accuracy (Esfahani & Sundararajan, 2011). One simulation study that increased electrode count did find that a higher density EEG system actually might not have increased spatial resolution (Ollikainen et al., 2000). However, this particular finding is not heavily supported by the literature. One reason for this lack of effect could be that the sources recorded by a lower density system with 14 electrodes is sufficient for adequate control, with diminishing returns as electrode count increases, thus making the smaller system comparable to the larger one. Another explanation is that the spatial resolution advantages of a higher density system are not used fully in this paradigm. Because the classifier is trained on frequency band power data of independent components obtained from ICA, which linearly transforms the original electrode space into a different vector space (known as the component space), the feature extraction process could have tempered out more sensitive spatial information. Perhaps a classifier trained specifically on spatial activity would fare better, but this is purely speculative. Nonetheless, although there are some causes left to question, these findings further support the viability of more portable BCI.

#### **Spatial Activity**

Looking at the topographical plots tells a story that is common in neuroimaging, one that is especially impactful when attempting to decode brain activity: variability between individuals makes it difficult to generalize anything, plots and classifiers alike. This is evident in the visibly variable activity between individuals in Appendix A. Of course, there are commonalities in brain activity given a similar task, but, especially in such a small group, averaging across participants can be a lossy process. Another story told in the individual spatial activity data provides support for bilateral parietal activity found in Winlove et al. rather than the right hemisphere specific activity observed in Esfahani & Sundararajan's data. Winlove et al. also found left hemisphere specificity in mental imagery studies, which is also represented in some of the participant data as well. This is not to say that Esfahani & Sundararajan's topographical findings are inaccurate; they are well supported by findings from Mellet et al. (1995). This, instead, points to the fact that, as mentioned in the section on mental imagery and the brain, it is difficult to nail down a single anatomical area of the brain to a single function due to the human brain's complexity and variability. It is better to see data from these studies as part of a larger trend.

#### **Mental Imagery**

Might these findings add to the imagery debate mentioned earlier? They do, somewhat. The bilateral parietal activity adds to the data that certain parietal areas are involved in mental imagery, possibly supporting the representation argument as parts of the parietal cortex (See: Figure 6) are known to be involved higher cognitive functions. The lack of occipital lobe data, however, fails to support the imagery-as-picture argument. This does beg the question, however, of whether this was at all the same task for all participants. David Kirsh, a mental imagery researcher at the University of California, San Diego makes the distinction between *imagination* and *projection* (Kirsh, 2013). Projection, according to Kirsh, is the "is a mental process akin to attaching a mental image to a physical strucure." Imagination, on the other hand, "has no physical anchor, and imagined images need have no specific size or location." Although the instructions asked participants to imagine the object on the screen, it is entirely possible that some *projected* the image onto the screen's background, anchoring it to the fixation cross, for example, while others *imagined* the shape as an unattached object that just happened to be near the screen. It is, then, also possible that these two different processes have slightly different neural substrates or activation strengths of occipital vs. parietal lobe activity, thus leading to even more variability between participants for the task. Moving forward, it would be useful to use a standard test for keeping track of participants' tactics while completing the task in order to ascertain which type of imaging that was used, or if they used a mix of the two.

## Conclusion

To conclude, the results of this study show that there is great potential for portable, dry-electrode EEG systems to be used in BCIs with an accuracy on par with that of higher density wet EEG systems. In order to further confirm these findings, future developments will benefit from the addition of more participants, both to train a more robust classifier that can maintain high accuracy against cross-validation, and for the averaging of topographical data to be a more informative and less noisy result. With more participants for a paradigm like Experiment 2, a more distinct mechanism behind the effect of an increased number of trials might also be observed. Additionally, more sensitive artifact rejection methods could be used in order to weed out potential artifact left over or possibly even created by ICA decomposition (Leichter, 2013).

"The dry revolution," or the introduction of dry electrode headsets as the gold standard in research, may be closer than we think (Di Flumeri et al., 2019). With improvements to these results using novel recording, feature extraction, and classification techniques, the list of applications for these portable devices is sure to grow exponentially.

### **Future Directions**

The realm of BCI applications using shape mental imagery is currently small, but has great potential. Looking forward, the same general idea used in this study and ones like it could be used to reliably generate not only common 3D shapes like pyramids and spheres, but also to create more complex shapes. These systems could even generate objects made up of multiple shapes. With better hardware, computational power, and a deeper understanding of the neuroscience of imagery, these things are possible.

CAD software is a natural platform for such an interface, as it is a drawing board in a 3D space already equipped with the tools for building and manipulating complex objects. Being simulative in nature, it is easy to prototype builds with ease without the use of materials. Thus, a primary goal for future versions of this study would be to create actual output in a virtual environment. Many CAD programs, at the same time, are used for the eventual 3D printing or manual building of the virtual objects. Using a BCI interface, it could be possible to create out in the world a physical sculpture of a mental representation within minutes. In the future, it could be possible to derive a person's mental images from scratch, after, of course, some training (though there are labs that develop 'neural cryptography' methods for decoding activity without training data, see: Dyer et al., 2016). Not only would this be a game changing form of communication and physical interaction for individuals with locked-in syndrome and movement disorders, but this would be a potentially new tool to study imagery and the brain. By approximating mental representations as physical structures using a BCI, and then tuning that output to make those approximations more precise to their intended form, it is possible to create objects at an unprecedented level of fluidity beyond what we can even do with our hands. The possibilities, then, for what can be made using mental imagery are limited by one's imagination and the accuracy of what a computer can detect and generate.

But why stop at consciously intended sculpting? BCIs provide an interface with a part of the human body that often reflects processes both conscious and unconscious. It's entirely possible create a window into human unconsciousness via sculpting, to put a visual imagery-based BCI "on autopilot" and observe what kind of formations are made from unconscious mental states, much like how one plays mindlessly with clay. Perhaps these unconscious or subconscious structures would appear as consciously generated ones do. Perhaps they would appear differently. It is possible that we use the amorphous structures as representations of mental states, which may represent those states better than even words can. This is the beauty of BCIs. They revolutionize human tool usage. There are, of course, many years of research to be done before reaching the level of complexity that fantasy can take us. Though at the rate that technology is developing and with the growing interest in BCIs, who knows what can be accomplished in the next few years?

## **Appendix A: Individual Topographies**

Looking at the individual scalp distributions shows a somewhat clearer activity, and it is likely that the averaging process did, in fact, conceal the more uniquely individual activity. The individual data in Experiment 2 (Figure 12), however, appears somewhat anomalous in comparison to these topographies, further suggesting a separate issue possibly related to recording, or something specific to the participant. One more fact worth mentioning is that the participant with the strongest left hemisphere activity, Participant 6, also had the highest classification accuracy (70%). Though we did not explore this, there could be a correlation between the strength of activity on this side and classification accuracy.



Participant 1: Avg. Accuracy = 30%



Participant 2: Avg. Accuracy = 50%



Participant 3: Avg. Accuracy = 40%



Participant 4: Avg. Accuracy = 30%



Participant 5: Avg. Accuracy = 40%



Participant 6: Avg. Accuracy = 70%

## Bibliography

- Esfahani, E.T. & Sundararajan, V. (2012). Classification of primitive shapes using brain–computer interfaces. *CAD*. 44. 1011-1019. 10.1016/j.cad.2011.04.008.
- Jung, T.-P., Makeig, S., Humphries, C., Lee, T.-W., McKeown, M.J., Iragui, V. and Sejnowski, T.J. (2000), Removing electroencephalographic artifacts by blind source separation. *Psychophysiology*, 37: 163-178. doi:10.1111/1469-8986.3720163.
- Delorme, A., & Makeig, S. (2004). EEGLAB: an open source toolbox for analysis of single-trial EEG dynamics including independent component analysis. *Journal of neuroscience methods*, 134(1), 9-21. (See article: http://sccn.ucsd.edu/eeglab/download/eeglab\_jnm03.pdf).
- Bhat, Rohit & Deshpande, Akshay & Rai, Rahul & Tarkesh Esfahani, Ehsan.
   (2013). BCI-Touch Based System: A Multimodal CAD Interface for Object Manipulation. ASME International Mechanical Engineering Congress and Exposition, Proceedings (IMECE). 12. 10.1115/IMECE2013-65648.
- Nanjundaswamy, Vishwas & Kulkarni, Amit & Chen, Zhuo & Jaiswal, Prakhar & Shankar, Sree & Verma, Anoop & Rai, Rahul. (2013). Intuitive 3D
  Computer-Aided Design (CAD) System With Multimodal Interfaces.
  Proceedings of the ASME Design Engineering Technical Conference. 2.
  10.1115/DETC2013-12277.

- Lang, M. (2012). Investigating the Emotiv EPOC for cognitive control in limited training time. [Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation]. University of Canterbury, Dept. of Computer Science.
- Folgieri, Raffaella & Soave, Francesco & Lucchiari, Claudio. (2016). CREATIVE THINKING: A BRAIN COMPUTER INTERFACE OF ART. 10.13140/RG.2.2.31683.40489.
- Korik, Attila & Hay, Laura & Gilbert, Sam & Grealy, Madeleine & Duffy, Alex & Choo, Pei & Coyle, Damien. (2018). Primitive shape imagery classification from electroencephalography (Poster).
- Mathewson, K.E., Harrison, T.J.L. and Kizuk, S.A.D. (2017), High and dry? Comparing active dry EEG electrodes to active and passive wet electrodes. *Psychophysiology*, 54: 74-82. doi:10.1111/psyp.12536
- Song, J., Davey, C., Poulsen, C., Luu, P., Turovets, S., Anderson, E., Li, K., Tucker, D. (2015). EEG source localization: Sensor density and head surface coverage. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 256: 9-21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2015.08.015.
- Kirkpatrick, Ted. "Lecture on Cognition and Perception". User Interface Design. Simon Fraser University. 2002.
- Wolpaw, J.R., Wolpaw, E.W. (2012) *Brain-Computer Interfaces: Principle and Practice.* (1) New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Miranda, R.A., Casebeer, W.D., Hein, A.M., Jack, J.W., Krotkov, E.P., Laabs, T.L., Manzo, J.E., Pankratz, K.G., ..., Ling, S.F. (2015). DARPA-funded efforts in the development of novel brain–computer interface technologies. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 244: 52-67.
- Wolpaw, Jonathan R., Flotzinger, Doris, Pfurtscheller, Gert, McFarland, Dennis J. (1997). Timing of EEG-Based Cursor Control. Journal of Clinical *Neurophysiology*, 14(6): 529-538.
- Wolpaw, J.R., McFarland, D.J., Neat, G.W., Forneris, C.A. (1991) An EEG-based brain-computer interface for cursor control. Electroencephalography and *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *78*(3): 252-259.
- Oken, B., Memmott, T., Eddy, B., Wiedrick, J., Fried-Oken, M. (2018) Vigilance state fluctuations and performance using brain-computer interface for communication. *Brain-computer interfaces*, 5(4): 146-156.
- Waldert, S. (2016). Invasive vs. Non-Invasive Neuronal Signals for Brain-Machine Interfaces: Will One Prevail? *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 10: 295. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2016.00295.
- Hinckley, K. (1996). Haptic Issues for Virtual Manipulation. [Doctoral dissertation, University of Virginia]. Microsoft. https://www.microsoft.com/en-us/research/publication/haptic-issuesvirtual-manipulation/

Norman, D.A. (1988). *The Psychology of Everyday Things*. Basic Books.

- Movahedi, M. M., Mehdizadeh, A., Alipour, A. (2013). Development of a Brain Computer Interface (BCI) Speller System Based on SSVEP Signals. *Journal of biomedical physics & engineering*, 3(3): 81–86.
- Graimann, B., Allison, B., Pfurtscheller, G. (2010). *Brain-Computer Interfaces: Revolutionizing Human-Computer Interaction* (1-27).
- Leichter, C. S. (2013). Eigenspecters (Thesis, Doctor of Philosophy). University of Otago. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/10523/4459.
- Kam, J.W.Y., Griffin, S., Shen, A., Patel, S., Hinrichs, H., Heinze, H.J., Deouell, L.Y., Knight, R.T. (2019). Systematic comparison between a wireless EEG system with dry electrodes and a wired EEG system with wet electrodes. *NeuroImage*, 184: 119-129.
- McFarland, D.J., Sarnacki, W.A., Wolpaw, J.R. (2003) Brain–computer interface (BCI) operation: optimizing information transfer rates. *Biological Psychology*, 63(3): 237-251.
- Allison, B.Z., Dunne, S., Leeb, R., Millán, J.D.R., Nijholt, A. (2012). *Towards Practical Brain-Computer Interfaces*. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Mohammad, H., M.N, Sulaiman. (2015). A Review on Evaluation Metrics for Data Classification Evaluations. *International Journal of Data Mining & Knowledge Management Process*, 5: 01-11.
- Mamunur, R., Norizam, S., Majeed Anwar, P. P. A., Muazu, M.R., Ahmad Fakhri, Ab. N., Sama, B. B., Sabira, K. (2020). Current Status, Challenges, and

Possible Solutions of EEG-Based Brain-Computer Interface: A Comprehensive Review. *Frontiers in Neurorobotics*, 14: 25.

- Al-Nafjan, A.; Hosny, M.; Al-Ohali, Y.; Al-Wabil, A. (2017). Review and Classification of Emotion Recognition Based on EEG Brain-Computer Interface System Research: A Systematic Review. *Appl. Sci.*, 7: 1239.
- Vidal, J.J. (1973). Toward Direct Brain-Computer Communication. Annual *Review* of *Biophysics and Bioengineering*, (2)1: 157-180.
- Miranda, R.A., Casebeer, W.D., Hein, A.M., Judy, J. W., Krotkov, E.P., Laabs, T.L., Manzo, J.E., Pankratz, K.G., Pratt, G.A., Sanchez, J.C., Weber, D.J., Wheeler, T.L., Ling, G.S.F. (2015). DARPA-funded efforts in the development of novel brain–computer interface technologies. Journal of *Neuroscience Methods*, 244: 52-67.
- Waldert, S. (2016). Invasive vs. Non-Invasive Neuronal Signals for Brain-Machine Interfaces: Will One Prevail? *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 10: 295.
- Baek, H.J., Chang, M.H., Heo, J., Park, K.S. (2019). Enhancing the Usability of Brain-Computer Interface Systems. *Computational Intelligence and Neuroscience*, 2019.
- Achic, F., Montero, J., Penaloza, C., Cuellar, F. (2016). Hybrid BCI system to operate an electric wheelchair and a robotic arm for navigation and manipulation tasks. (Conference: 2016 IEEE Workshop on Advanced Robotics and its Social Impacts (ARSO)): 249-254.

- Walter, G.W. (1940). Electro-encephalography: An Aid to Diagnosis. *The Bristol Medico-Chirurgical Journal*. 1940.
- Kennett, R. (2012). Modern electroencephalography. *Journal of Neurology*, 259: 783–789 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-012-6425-6.
- Loued-Khenissi, L., Döll, O., Preuschoff, K. (2018). An Overview of Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging Techniques for Organizational Research. *Organizational Research Methods*. (22)1: 17-45.
- Patil, A.C., Thakor, N.V. (2016). Implantable neurotechnologies: a review of micro- and nanoelectrodes for neural recording. *Medical & Biological Engineering & Computing*, 54: 23-44.
- Phelps, M.E. (2000). PET: The Merging of Biology and Imaging into Molecular Imaging. *Journal of Nuclear Medicine*, (41)4: 661-81.
- Heurling , K., Leuzy, A., Jonasson, My., Frick, A., Zimmer, E.R., Nordberg, A., Lubberink, M. (2017). Quantitative positron emission tomography in brain research. *Brain Research*, 1670: 220-34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2017.06.022.
- Stefan, H., Trinka, E. (2017). Magnetoencephalography (MEG): Past, current and future perspectives for improved differentiation and treatment of epilepsies. *Seizure*, 44: 121-124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seizure.2016.10.028.

Proudfoot, M., Woolrich, M. W., Nobre, A. C., Turner, M. R. (2014). Magnetoencephalography. *Practical neurology*, 14(5), 336–343. https://doi.org/10.1136/practneurol-2013-000768.

Rao, P.N.R. (2013). Brain-Computer Interfacing. Cambridge University Press.

- Kiesseppa, I.A. (2001). Statistical Model Selection Criteria and the Philosophical Problem of Underdetermination. *The British Journal for the Philosophy of Science*, (52)4: 761-94.
- Artoni, F., Delorme, A., & Makeig, S. (2018). Applying dimension reduction to EEG data by Principal Component Analysis reduces the quality of its subsequent Independent Component decomposition. *NeuroImage*, 175: 176–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.03.016.
- Klimesch, W. (2018). The frequency architecture of brain and brain body oscillations: an analysis. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 48: 2431-2453. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.14192.
- Burgess, R.C. (2019). Chapter 4: Filtering of neurophysiologic signals. *Handbook of Clinical Neurology*, 160: 51-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-64032-1.00004-7.
- Hramov, A.E., Maksimenko, V.A., Pchelintseva S.V., Runnova A.E., Grubov V.V., Musatov V.Y., Zhuravlev M.O., Koronovskii A.A., Pisarchik A.N. (2017).
  Classifying the Perceptual Interpretations of a Bistable Image Using EEG and Artificial Neural Networks. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 11: 674.

- A. Korik, R. Sosnik, N. Siddique, D. Coyle. (2016). Chapter 3 3D hand motion trajectory prediction from EEG mu and beta bandpower. *Progress in Brain Research, Elsevier*, 228: 71-105. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.pbr.2016.05.001.
- Duan, X., Xie, S., Xie, X., Meng, Y., Xu, Z. (2019). Quadcopter Flight Control Using a Non-invasive Multi-Modal Brain Computer Interface. *Frontiers in Neurorobotics*, 13: 23.
- R. Bousseta, I. El Ouakouak, M. Gharbi, F. Regragui. (2018). EEG Based Brain Computer Interface for Controlling a Robot Arm Movement Through Thought, *IRBM*, (39)2: 129-35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.irbm.2018.02.001.
- He, B., Coogan, C.G. (2018). Brain-computer interface control in a virtual reality environment and applications for the internet of things. *IEEE Access*, 6: 10840-10849.
- Krepki, R., Blankertz, B., Curio, G. et al. (2007). The Berlin Brain-Computer Interface (BBCI) – towards a new communication channel for online control in gaming applications. *Multimedia Tools Application*, 33: 73–90. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11042-006-0094-3.
- Wolpaw, J.R., Flotzinger, D., Pfurtscheller, G., McFarland, D.J. (1997). Timing of EEG-Based Cursor Control, *Journal of Clinical Neurophysiology*, (14)6: 529-538.
- Gannouni, S., Belwafi, K., Aboalsamh, H., Alebdi, B., Almassad, Y., Al Samhan, Z., Alobaedallah, H. (2020). EEG-Based BCI System to Control Prosthesis's Finger Movements. (Preprint).

- Yu, Y., Liu, Y., Jiang, J., Yin, E., Zhou, Z., Hu, D. (2018). An Asynchronous Control Paradigm Based on Sequential Motor Imagery and Its Application in Wheelchair Navigation. *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, 26(12): 2367-2375.
- Mellet, E., Tzourio, N., Crivello, F., Joliot, M., Denis, M., Mazoyer, B. (1996).Functional Anatomy of Spatial Mental Imagery Generated from Verbal Instructions. *Journal of Neuroscience*, (16)20: 6504-6512.
- Abibullaev, B., An, J., Moon, J.I. (2011). Neural Network Classification of Brain Hemodynamic Responses from Four Mental Tasks. *International Journal of Optomechatronics*, (5)4: 340-359.
- Hwang, H.J., Lim, J.H., Kim, D.W., Im, C.H. (2014). Evaluation of various mental task combinations for near-infrared spectroscopy-based brain-computer interfaces. *Journal of Biomedical Optics*, (19)7: 077005. https://doi.org/10.1117/1.JBO.19.7.077005.
- Power, S.D., Kushki, A., Chau, T. (2012). Automatic single-trial discrimination of mental arithmetic, mental singing and the no-control state from prefrontal activity: toward a three-state NIRS-BCI. *BMC Research Notes*, 5: 141. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-0500-5-141.
- Andersen, R.A., Hwang, E.J., Mulliken, G.H. (2010). Cognitive Neural Prosthetics. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 61: 169-190. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.093008.100503.

- Yao, L., Sheng, X., Zhang, D., Jiang, N., Farina, D., Zhu, X. (2017). A BCI System Based on Somatosensory Attentional Orientation. *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, 25(1): 78-87.
- Grave de Peralta Menendez, R., Miranda Dias, J.M., Soares Prado, J.A., Aliakbarpour, H., Andino, S.G. (2008). Multiclass brain computer interface based on visual attention. (Conference: ESANN 2009, 17th European Symposium on Artificial Neural Networks).
- Zvyagintsev, M., Clemens, B., Chechko, N., Mathiak, K.A., Sack, A.T., Mathiak, K. (2013), Brain networks underlying mental imagery of auditory and visual information. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 37: 1421-1434. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.12140.
- Nikolaev, A.R. (1995). Investigation of the stages of the mental rotation of complex figures with the intracortical interaction mapping technique. *Neuroscience and Behavioral Physiology*, 25: 228–233. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02360210.
- Jeannerod, M. (2001). Neural Simulation of Action: A Unifying Mechanism for Motor Cognition. *NeuroImage*, (14)1: S103-S109.
- Kosslyn, S.M. (2005). Mental Images and the Brain. *Cognitive Neuropsychology*, (22)3: 333-347.
- Schmidt, T.T., Ostwald, D., Blankenberg, F. (2014). Imaging tactile imagery: Changes in brain connectivity support perceptual grounding of mental images in primary sensory cortices. *NeuroImage*, 90: 216-224.

Yates, F. A. (1966). The Art of Memory. Routledge and Kegan Paul.

- Humphrey, G. (1951). Thinking: An Introduction to its Experimental Psychology. Methuen and Company Limited.
- Moulton, S.T., Kosslyn, S.M. (2009). Imagining predictions: mental imagery as mental emulation. Philosophical Translations of the Royal Society B, 364: 1273-1280.
- Friedrich, E.V.C., Scherer, R., Neuper, C. (2012). The effect of distinct mental strategies on classification performance for brain–computer interfaces. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, (84)1: 86-94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2012.01.014.
- LaFleur, K. Cassady, K., Doud, A., Shades, K., Rogin, E., He, B. (2013).
   Quadcopter control in three-dimensional space using a noninvasive motor imagery-based brain–computer interface. *Journal of Neural Engineering*, (10)4: 6003.
- McMahon, C.E. (1973). Images as Motives and Motivators: A Historical Perspective. *The American Journal of Psychology*, (86)3: 465-490.
- Chang, S., Pearson, J. (2018). The functional effects of prior motion imagery and motion perception. *Cortex*, 105: 83-96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2017.08.036.
- Nanay, B. (2018). Multimodal mental imagery. *Cortex*, 105: 125-134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2017.07.006.

- Kirsh, D.J., Rebotier, T.P. (2003). Image-dependent interaction of imagery and vision. *American Journal of Psychology*, (116)3: 343-366.
- Zeman, A., MacKisack, M., Onians, J. (2018). The Eye's Mind visual imagination, neuroscience and the humanities. *Cortex*, 105: 1-188.

Thomas, N.J.T. (1997). Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy, Fall 2020 Ed.

- Kirsh, D. (2013). Embodied Cognition and the Magical Future of Interaction Design. ACM Transactions of Computer-Human Interaction, (20)1: Article No. 3.
- Alchalabi, B., Faubert, J. (2019). A Comparison between BCI Simulation and Neurofeedback for Forward/Backward Navigation in Virtual Reality. *Computational Intelligence and Neuroscience*, 2019.
- Leeb, R., Friedman, D., Muller-Putz, G.R., Scherer, R., Slater, M., Pfurtscheller, G. (2007). Self-Paced (Asynchronous) BCI Control of a Wheelchair in Virtual Environments: A Case Study with a Tetraplegic. *Computational Intelligence* and Neuroscience, 2007: Article 79642.
- Winlove, C.I.P., Milton, F., Ranson, J., Fulford, J., MacKisack, M., Macpherson, F., Zeman, Adam. (2018). The neural correlates of visual imagery: A coordinate-based meta-analysis. *Cortex*, 105: 4-25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2017.12.014.

- Sack, A.T., Jacobs, C., De Martino, F., Staeren, N., Goebel, R., Formisano, E.
   (2008). Dynamic Premotor-to-Parietal Interactions during Spatial Imagery. *Journal of Neuroscience*, (28)34: 8417-8429.
- Farah, M.J., Hammond, K.M., Levine, D.N., Calvanio, R. (1988). Visual and spatial mental imagery: Dissociable systems of representation. *Cognitive Psychology*, (20)4: 439-462.
- Ahn, M., Cho, H., Ahn, S., Jun, S.C. (2013). High Theta and Low Alpha Powers May Be Indicative of BCI-Illiteracy in Motor Imagery. *PLOS ONE 8*(11): e80886. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0080886.
- Blankertz, B., Sannelli, C., Halder, S., Hammer, E.M., Kübler, A., Müller, K.R., Curio, G., Dickhaus, T. (2010). Neurophysiological predictor of SMRbased BCI performance. *NeuroImage*, (51)4: 1303-1309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.03.022.
- Vasilyev, A., Liburkina, S., Yakovlev, L., Perepelkina, O., Kaplan, A. (2017).
   Assessing motor imagery in brain-computer interface training:
   Psychological and neurophysiological correlates, *Neuropsychologia*, 97: 56-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2017.02.005.
- Jeunet, C., N'Kaoua, B., Lotte, F. Chapter 1 Advances in user-training for mental-imagery-based BCI control: Psychological and cognitive factors and their neural correlates. Ed: Damien Coyle. *Progress in Brain Research*, Elsevier, 228: 3-35. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.pbr.2016.04.002.
- Im, C.H., Kwon, J., Shin, J. (2018). A Ternary Hybrid EEG-NIRS Brain-Computer Interface for the Classification of Brain Activation Patterns during Mental

Arithmetic, Motor Imagery, and Idle State. *Frontiers in Neuroinformatics*, 12: 5.

- Lotte, F., Jeunet, C. (2018). Defining and quantifying users' mental imagery-based BCI skills: a first step. *Journal of Neural Engineering*, (15)4: 6030-6053.
- Talukdar, U., Hazarika, S.M., Gan, J.Q. (2019). Motor imagery and mental fatigue: inter-relationship and EEG based estimation. *Journal of Computational Neuroscience*, 46: 55–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10827-018-0701-0.

Tye, Michael. (1991). The Imagery Debate (Representation and Mind). The MIT Press.

Krusienski, D.J., McFarland, D.J., Wolpaw, J.R. (2006). An Evaluation of Autoregressive Spectral Estimation Model Order for Brain-Computer Interface Applications. 2006 International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (Conference): 1323 - 1326.

- Di Flumeri, G., Aricò, P., Borghini, G., Sciaraffa, N., Di Florio, A., Babiloni, F.
   (2019). The Dry Revolution: Evaluation of Three Different EEG Dry
   Electrode Types in Terms of Signal Spectral Features, Mental States
   Classification and Usability. *Sensors (Basel)*, (19)6: 1365.
- Padfield, N., Zabalza, J., Zhao, H., Masero, V., Ren, J. (2019). EEG-Based Brain-Computer Interfaces Using Motor-Imagery: Techniques and Challenges. *Sensors (Basel)*, (19)6: 1423.

Esfahani, E.T., Sundararajan, V. (2011). Using Brain-Computer Interfaces to Detect Human Satisfaction in Human-Robot Interaction. *International Journal of Humanoid Robotics: (8)*1: 87-101.

Dyer, E.L., Azar, M.G., Fernandes, H.L., Perich, M.G., Naufel, S., Miller, L., Kording, K. (2016). *biorxiv* (Preprint). https://doi.org/10.1101/080861.

Höller, Y., Thomschewski, A., Uhl, A., Bathke, A. C., Nardone, R., Leis, S., Trinka, E., & Höller, P. (2018). HD-EEG Based Classification of Motor-Imagery Related Activity in Patients With Spinal Cord Injury. *Frontiers in neurology*, *9*, 955. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2018.00955